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Wednesday, September 29, 2010


--- On commencing at 9:04 a.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:   Good morning, please be seated.


The Board sits today on matter of an application filed by Algoma Power Incorporated on June 1st, 2010 under section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act seeking approval for changes to rates for 2010 and 2011 that Algoma Power charges for electricity distribution.  The application has been assigned file number EB-2009-0278.


Procedural Order No. 1 issued on July 20th, 2010 made provision for a technical conference and a settlement conference to be held on August 24th and 25th, 2010, respectively.


Algoma Power filed a settlement proposal with the Board on September 10th, 2010.  The settlement proposal indicated that the parties to the settlement agreed on all but three items.  In accordance with Procedural Order No. 2, the Board heard an oral presentation of that settlement proposal on September 16th, 2010.


The Board heard submissions on an element of the settlement proposal regarding the reclassification of street light customers to residential, thus providing rural and remote rate protection to that customer -- class of customer.


The Board found that Ontario Regulation 442/01 and Ontario Regulation 445/07 do not include street light customers as a class eligible for RRRP and that it could not accept the proposed settlement.


Algoma Power filed a revised settlement proposal on September 17th, 2010 and committed to filing revised schedules by September 29th, 2010.  The Board received the revised schedules on September 27th.


The Board issued Procedural Order No. 3 on September 22nd establishing the process the Board intends to follow to hear the revised settlement proposal and deal with the three unresolved issues.


The three unresolved issues remain as follows:  (a) What is the appropriate method of calculating the average rate adjustment of other distributors in order to calculate the rate increase for the customers of API and the remaining amount that is payable under RRRP; (b) Should API's proposal to recover amounts in account 1572, extraordinary event costs, be approved; and (c) Should API's proposal to establish a new IFRS account be approved?


Today's hearing is intended to receive the revised settlement proposal and allow any parties to the proceeding an opportunity to make submissions on its merits.


We also intend to hear further evidence and discovery on the issue regarding extraordinary event costs.  The process established to hear the other two issues and the submissions on today's issue is detailed in Procedural Order No. 3, and I will not repeat them here.


I will take appearances now, please.

Appearances:


MR. TAYLOR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Andrew Taylor, counsel for Algoma Power Inc.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Taylor.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am struggling with my button.  There we go.


Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Shepherd.  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. MACINTOSH:  David MacIntosh appearing for Energy Probe Research Foundation.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Mr. MacIntosh.


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Ms. Hare.  My name is Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I am joined by Richard Battista and Silvan Cheung.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning.  As far as the process today, as we mentioned in the opening remarks, that we would hear a review of the settlement proposal, and I would suggest that unless others feel otherwise, Mr. Taylor, would you propose to do that first and have that set aside before we carry on with the issue of today?


MR. TAYLOR:  Yes.  I think that would be a good idea.  What we have done to assist the Board is prepare a summary of the changes that were made to the settlement proposal, and we would be happy to walk you through those.


MR. QUESNELLE:  That would be appropriate, thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, subject to any objections, we will give that Exhibit No. --


MR. BATTISTA:  That would be Exhibit K2.1, summary of revised settlement changes.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  SUMMARY OF REVISED SETTLEMENT CHANGES.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Did you get that, court reporter?


MR. TAYLOR:  Just to clarify, this summary document describes the changes just to the appendices to the settlement proposal.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, understood.


We had received -- I am not sure if it is the official document.  I am just looking.  I have a track change copy of the revised settlement, and I am not sure, Mr. Millar.  Is that the official proposed settlement?  I have two copies here, and one is a track change.  That may have just been for convenience.


I was going to suggest for convenience we could look at that copy, if everyone has it, to walk through the settlement itself and just have the changes highlighted.


MR. MILLAR:  I think that is right, Mr. Chair.  That copy is for convenience.  There is an official clean copy, as well, that should be in your materials.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I have that, as well.


MR. MILLAR:  But it might assist to look at the track changes version.


MR. QUESNELLE:  It is up to you, Mr. Taylor.  Whatever you think is most convenient to you to walk us through this.


MR. TAYLOR:  Sure.  Well, why don't we start with the settlement proposal?


You can see from the title on page 1 that now it says, "Proposed Revised Settlement Agreement", and the date has been changed from September 10th to September 17th.


The headers have been revised to include the word "revised settlement agreement".


If you turn to page 5 of 18, you will see that we've amended the language regarding the declaration of rates being made interim.  So now the last sentence of the first paragraph on the page says:

"Distribution rates are effective December 1, 2010, and the Parties agree that they will not object to a request by Algoma in a future rates proceeding for its rates to be made interim on December 31, 2011."


MR. QUESNELLE:  Can I read that as to be consistent with the outcome of the discussion we had at the last day that we were together?


MR. TAYLOR:  I believe so.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.


MR. TAYLOR:  Then if you would turn to page 13 of 18, you will see that we've deleted what was section 8(b), the reclassification of the street light customers to residential.


And those are the only amendments to the settlement proposal.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Any other submissions from any of the parties that are party to the settlement proposal?  I think it is straightforward.  Questions, Ms. Hare?


MS. HARE:  No.


MR. QUESNELLE:  No.  Okay, thank you very much.


Based on our discussions at the last settlement proposal, I think the Board readily accepts the proposal as submitted today, and we can proceed with the remainder of the day with that acceptance having been noted by the Board.


MR. TAYLOR:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Now on to the issue of today, and as mentioned in the Procedural Order No. 3, to further hear evidence on the issue of the extraordinary event costs, and I see you have a panel to provide that -- facilitate that today, Mr. Taylor?


MR. TAYLOR:  I do.


MR. QUESNELLE:  If you would like to present your panel.


MR. TAYLOR:  Sure.  Why don't you all introduce yourselves one by one?


MR. BRADBURY:  Douglas Bradbury, director of regulatory affairs, Algoma Power Inc.


MR. LAVOIE:  Tim Lavoie, regional manager, Algoma Power.


MR. KING:  Glen King, vice president finance, CFO Algoma Power Inc.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning.  If we could have the panel sworn at this time.


MR. TAYLOR:  Thank you.

ALGOMA POWER INC. - PANEL 1


Douglas Bradbury, Sworn


Glen King, Sworn


Tim Lavoie, Sworn


MR. TAYLOR:  Mr. Chair, we would like to lead with a brief -- some evidence in-chief.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you. 


MR. TAYLOR:  Go ahead. 

Examination by Mr. Taylor: 


MR. LAVOIE:  Good morning and thank you. 


Just a brief addition to some of the evidence that we have already provided.  These...


MR. QUESNELLE:  Carry on.


MS. HARE:  I'm sorry.


MR. LAVOIE:  These extraordinary costs requested in this application are identical in nature to the costs requested by Great Lakes Power Transmission Limited Partnership in its EB-2009-0408 application.  That proposal by Great Lakes Power Transmission Limited Partnership of over $1 million in extraordinary costs was specifically addressed in the settlement proposal that was accepted by the Board.


These costs in question arose because of the unique circumstances of Section 71 and the expiration of legislative exemption to it. 


Unlike nearly all utilities in Ontario, Great Lakes Power Limited was corporately organized prior to the existence of Section 71 of the OEB Act.


As a result, Section 71 was not an issue of compliance for most utilities, since they could organize with it in mind.


For Great Lakes Power Limited and any successor to it, Section 71 presented a compliance issue.  The Section 71 exemption regulation granted time to prepare for compliance, but nevertheless, compliance could not be avoided in the long-term. 


As a result, the unwinding of a long-standing corporation was both a unique and extraordinary event, not contemplated in the ordinary course of utility business at the time Great Lakes Power was created.


In the event of non-compliance, the ability to operate the distribution business would have been affected and there could have been -- would have been the possibility of legal consequences against the business.


In particular, under the OEB Act, the Board has the power to suspend or revoke a licence and to issue administrative penalties.  Moreover, where convicted of an offence, such as for contravening a provision of OEB Act or regulation made under the OEB Act, there is a possibility of substantial fines being issued.


The costs incurred are material, as they represent more than a quarter of a percent of Algoma Power Inc.'s average assets for 2009.  As calculated, net assets of 28.6 million at a quarter of a percent is roughly $71,000. 


The circumstances that give rise -- giving rise to the costs were not within management's control, as it arose from a statutory requirement that was implemented notwithstanding that the integrated structure of Great Lakes Power Limited was known and long-standing.


The costs have been prudently incurred.  The transaction in question was contemplated and time-consuming, since it involved regulatory and statutory filings such as a detailed omnibus application to the Board seeking multiple forms of relief, pension filings, asset transfers, extensive regulatory and record-keeping efforts to split out company records in various forms and IESO registrations.


As a result, API satisfies the four requirements of causation, materiality and inability of management control, and prudence.


Therefore, API proposes to recover the balance for accounts 1572 from ratepayers in accordance with the methodology outlined in the application.


One clarification that we would like to provide today, when we reviewed the activities undertaken as just described, API became aware of a potential issue that the Board should be aware of.


The omnibus application had a number of regulatory approvals sought in its entire context.


And there were three housekeeping issues that needed to be dealt with in regards to Great Lakes Power Limited -- Great Lakes Power Transmission Limited Partnership, as a direct result of the creation of Great Lakes Power Distribution at the time, but Algoma Power Incorporated.


The first was the cancellation of Great Lakes Power Limited's transmission operator licence; the second was an amendment to Great Lakes Power Transmission Limited Partnership licence to include an operating characteristic of that company, since it, prior to that point, had been licensed only to own transmission assets; and the third thing was the transfer of certain delivery-point performance standards and customer-connection processes to Great Lakes Power Transmission Limited Partnership.


API is not requesting recovery of these costs that were transmission-related, and has estimated between 10- and $15,000 of legal time to prepare those requests.


Accordingly, we are revising our request here today, instead, to a recovery of 395,000.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Just to be clear on the last point, if I catch that properly, your estimated originally was 10- to 15,000 and that was in your original request, and now it is -- that quantum is now 400,000? 


MR. LAVOIE:  Sorry. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  Just try it.  Not at all?


MR. LAVOIE:  I am having microphone problems. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  The one on the other dais might work.  Try that.


MR. LAVOIE:  Okay.  We are back.


MR. TAYLOR:  Mr. Chair, could you repeat your question, please?


MR. QUESNELLE:  The last two numbers, I didn't catch the delta from what you had originally applied for to now, the amended requested.


MS. HARE:  And – sorry -- and why.  Sorry, you said it so quickly I didn't understand why.


MR. LAVOIE:  Sure.  How about I go through it again?


MS. HARE:  Please.


MR. LAVOIE:  The original estimate –- or, sorry, the original amount included in our application was $410,000.  And when we reviewed the details of the omnibus application, we found there were three specific requests in that omnibus application relating to Great Lakes Power Transmission Limited Partnership and creating the environment that would be required for it to be detached, I suppose, from the distribution aspects of the business.


And those three things that were requested in that application were the cancellation of its transmission operator licence -- so that was Great Lakes Power Limited's operator licence.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Right.


MR. LAVOIE:  An amendment to the Great Lakes Power Transmission licence to operate a transmission business; and then a transfer of specific or certain delivery-point performance standards and customer-connection procedures, which had been, I think, formerly attached to Great Lakes Power Limited.


So those requests were included in the omnibus application and we didn't want to -- we certainly don't feel that those costs should be borne by the ratepayers of distribution, and therefore, we are revising the amount from the $410,000 request to 395,000.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


Ms. Hare?  Very good.  Thank you very much. 


Is your panel ready for cross, then, Mr. Taylor? 


MR. TAYLOR:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I don't know if we have an order.


Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


Good morning, panel.  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC.  I am extraordinarily prepared today, so I am using the audio-visual system to try and capture the evidence references that I use or that you may use during the cross, to help people follow along. 


And I guess I can start with the one I pulled up during your examination in-chief, just as a starting point. 


I pulled up Exhibit 9, tab 2, schedule 2, page 2, which I think is the original summary of the extraordinary-event costs that you are claiming; is that correct? 


MR. LAVOIE:  That is correct. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  And my understanding from what we just went through is that you are deducting approximately $15,000 from that as a result of three categories of costs, which I think are -- I think you characterized them as transmission-related?


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Buonaguro, we are having a little technical difficulty up here.  As far as the use of the screen here, we're not --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Is it cut in half? 


MR. QUESNELLE:  It is a quarter, yes.  It is too large, and Ms. Hare's screen is not functioning. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Press the number 1, and then number 2 on your monitor, it should auto-adjust.


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  Thank you.  We may have to go to the hard copy in spite of your...


MR. BUONAGURO:  I can also drop the screen.  You can see it on the big screens.  I can drop those screens for you, if you want.


MR. MILLAR:  I was going to suggest we use the big screens.  Mr. Buonaguro, do you have the pad up there that operates them?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I have ultimate control.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Although I think they have to warm up.  It is not critical.  I mean, obviously I will give the references and people will follow along, but I think eventually those will pop on when the projector warms up.


I think it is because not enough people use the system.  It needs time to get going.  Shall I continue?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  We will catch up with the reference later.  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  I appreciate your efforts here to utilize the equipment.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  They're on the edge of being stranded assets.


[Laughter]


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So as you summarized in your opening, essentially what you are claiming is a revised figure of approximately $395,000, which you say was expended in order to comply with section 71 of the act?


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And just for reference's sake, if we take a look at section 71 of the Act, it says -- and I will skip the preamble:

"...a transmitter or distributor shall not, except through one or more affiliates, carry on any business activity other than transmitting or distributing electricity."


That is the requirement that you are saying those costs were in respect of?


MR. LAVOIE:  That is the section, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And my understanding is that, in your particular case, you had an exemption from -- well, this section is dated 2004, but you had an exemption through Regulation 161/99, which allowed you until December 31st, 2008 to comply?


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, I am going to pull up VECC Interrogatory No. 30 on the screen, and I am going to be looking at page 2 to start.  And we asked in part of the question about the time line of activities that the costs that you were claiming -- the time line during which those activities take place.  And the response I have highlighted on page 2 of interrogatory -- VECC response number (c).  You make reference to the time frame of 2003 to 2007 as part of your answer.


Just reading from the interrogatory, it says:

"From 2003 to 2007, GLPL worked with the Ministry of Energy and the Ontario Energy Board to implement solutions to significant rate impacts associated with its exclusively rural distribution business."


Do you see that?


MR. LAVOIE:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And would it be fair to say that the work that you are talking about there, in conjunction with the Ministry of Energy and Ontario Energy Board, is what led to Ontario Regulations 335/07 and 445/07, which I think both deal with the RRRP?


MR. LAVOIE:  Yes.  As we further state in the answer, that the regulations were passed during the summer of 2007.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And going back to page 1 of the interrogatory response, and I have highlighted the first area of costs under part (a) of question number 30, the legal fees of $284,200.  That is a component of the adjusted figure of $395,000 that you are claiming?


MR. LAVOIE:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And can you tell me if any of the legal fees in that category were incurred as part of the discussions or other activities related to separation that I just referred to you on the previous page, i.e., the discussions with the Ministry of Energy and the Ontario Energy Board in development of the two regulations I spoke of?


MR. LAVOIE:  The 2003 to 2007 time frame?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


MR. LAVOIE:  No, they're not.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  So presumably, then, that work was separately costed and exists somewhere else in the application or in some other application, but not here in this particular category of costs?


MR. LAVOIE:  Those particular costs were expensed by the utility during those time frames.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.


And I have also highlighted here, on response 30(a), $56,440 for internal staff costs, and that is part of the total claim of $395,000?


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you explain what those costs represent?


MR. LAVOIE:  We had a number of records within our system that -- within our corporate filing system that required separation from a physical standpoint, and those physical records were separated using internal staff hours, and also dealt with assisting with property records and the registration issues related -- related to land.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So when you say internal staff hours, I am going to assume -- and you can confirm or explain why I am wrong, but presumably you have internal staff who normally carry on the business of the company, and in this particular case you had them doing very specific tasks and presumably you were tracking their time somehow?


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct, using a time card-type system.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So we are talking only about internal staff, not external staff?


MR. LAVOIE:  In that particular category of costs, that would be our internal staff.  That would be our Algoma Power staff.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So we're talking about costs that were -- we are talking about costs of the company which are already part of your operating costs, but which were then allocated to this particular task in order to put it in the deferral account?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LAVOIE:  This effort -- now, I don't have the split in terms of this, but there was a portion of this cost that certainly was put in by our staff was over and above the time.  There was overtime put in to accomplish this task during -- obviously they have regular duties within the department.


And, as well, we utilized some contracted effort in their normal business, engineering business, to accomplish the normal, daily day-to-day tasks while they were working on this particular project.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Do you have numbers for those two items?


MR. LAVOIE:  No, I don't.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And the third item that I have highlighted on this particular interrogatory response, VECC 30(a), is the administrative costs.  And within that, it talks about registration fees with the Ministry of Finance, IESO, of $3,665.


Can you explain what those costs are?


MR. LAVOIE:  There are a number of registrations that were required through -- to register the new business.  The IESO has a fee, a registration fee, that is required, and a number of other smaller fees that are required to set up a business, I suppose.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Are those fees specific to the distributors?


MR. LAVOIE:  The IESO, I don't believe it is a specific distribution fee, but it is a market participant fee that is required.  It was a new market participant that had been created.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.


Now, I am going to turn up SEC number 31(c).  And that particular interrogatory response, at least part of it, talks about the consultant fees of $66,390.  Do you see that?


MR. LAVOIE:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  It talks about those costs being related to the separation of engineering records.  Could you describe what those records entailed?


MR. LAVOIE:  We do a lot of documentation on the properties by which we cross for our system that -- so private landowner records, detailed engineering drawings that had been put together for our system.  These documents all resided in a similar filing or same filing system with our -– with, at that point, transmission.  And so those documents had to be separated.


So we used consulting dollars or consulting efforts, as well, to assist with that effort.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So basically, you had a -- you originally had a big, one big file of -- I am simplifying it, but one big file of a mixture of transmission- and distribution-related engineering records, and you had to separate them into transmission and distribution? 


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.  Or pull out... yes, exactly.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  In part (a) of that same response -- and if I can paraphrase -- it basically characterized the nature of the claim, and I think you said a little bit of that in your introduction. 


My understanding is that you are claiming this revised figure of $395,000 as transition costs, similar to what other LDCs incurred earlier on in, I guess, the 2010 decade, as a result of industry restructuring.  And the only difference between your company and those other companies was that you were delayed as a result of Ontario Regulation 161/99, which gave you a different deadline for transitioning.


Is that generally what your claim is? 


MR. LAVOIE:  Well, I would certainly not characterize the section 71 compliance for an integrated utility as a similar reorganization as the bulk of municipal corporations that were reorganized at the onset of market opening, in the sense that they were carrying on distribution activities.


And we're reorganized to carry on distribution activities.  We have Great Lakes Power Limited, long-standing corporation, was an integrated utility carrying on generation, transmission and distribution in the area for about 100 years, and really taking that organization and changing it from an integrated utility carrying on those multiple courses of the industry business, and moving it into a distribution-only business.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


I think I took it from that -- maybe it is mostly the beginning of what you just said -- one of the major complicating factors in your case was the separation of the distribution business from the transmission business, which, I guess, in Ontario is unusual.  There is not a lot of people like that or companies like that. 


MR. LAVOIE:  That's our understanding. 


MR. TAYLOR:  Sorry, Mr. Buonaguro, if I could assist, just to be clear, our position is that this is not a transition cost.


We classify this as an extraordinary cost.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand, but the point is, is that you were analogizing it to what happened in the other companies and their compliance with section 71; correct? 


MR. TAYLOR:  Just to answer the question, so, you know, should the Board find that it is a transition cost, our position would be even if it were a transition cost, it would be a recoverable transition cost.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.


Now, I pulled up section 71 earlier on the screen.  Would you agree with me that section 71 of the Ontario Energy Board Act does not require the separation of transmission and distribution activities?


MR. TAYLOR:  No, we would not.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you explain?  Is that simply your position on what section 71 requires?


MR. TAYLOR:  Well, I guess we can save that for legal argument as to how 71 should be interpreted.  But our interpretation, it has always been interpretation of Algoma Power that both transmission and distribution had to be separated.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  The thing that leaps –- the company that leaps to mind is Hydro One Networks, which has both the transmission and distribution and isn't separated in the same way that Algoma and GLP are separated.


So I am wondering if the company or counsel has a position on why they can operate without separating, whereas apparently the company's interpretation in this case is that 71 would require them to separate?


MR. TAYLOR:  I would have to confirm it, but I believe that somewhere either in the Electricity Act -- I think it would be the Electricity Act or a regulation, there is a provision that is specific to Hydro One that allows it to operate both transmission and distribution together. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Perhaps this is a little unusual, but rather than us having a legal argument over this, perhaps I can get an assurance that in the argument in-chief, the company's position on this point will be made clear so we can respond to it?


You had mentioned that there may be some regulation or other statutory instrument that allows Hydro One to act as both transmission -- transmitter and distributor, and I think you are relying on that as a distinction. 


MR. TAYLOR:  I don't believe that Procedural Order No. 3 provides for us making argument-in-chief. 


I think you make argument first, and then we reply to it.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I can do it by way of undertaking, if the company wants to provide its position on why it is distinguished from Hydro One.  That's as good.


MR. TAYLOR:  No, I would rather not do that.  If you want to make the argument that we are no different from Hydro One, then we would respond to that argument by providing that piece of legislation if it exists. 


MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood, Mr. Taylor.  But at that point in time -- this is something that is being requested now, and perhaps as an undertaking.


I recognize that this is a legal issue for argument of the interpretation, but what Mr. Buonaguro is asking is the section -- he is not asking for interpretation now -- but is there a section of the regulation that makes specific to Hydro One, and should he put that forward in his initial argument, or is that part of your case that you are relying on, or is that part of what you are relying on.


MR. TAYLOR:  We are not relying on that.


So I think Mr. Buonaguro is capable of looking at the legislation and determining whether or not something exists or doesn't.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I mean, maybe I am thinking about it simply, but I clearly don't know what that section is.  They seem to.  It might be helpful to have it on the record before we start arguing about it, that's all.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  What I am getting at is the Applicant is saying he is not relying on it.  His client is not relying on that.  That is rather difficult for us to suggest what he should argue. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you. 


MR. LAVOIE:  Can I just -- I think there is a good point that we need to make here, is that also -- I mean, we have to think of the context by which this company, the distribution aspects of this business were unbundled, and compliance with section 71 in 2009 was related to generation activities and distribution activities occurring within the same corporation.


So clearly, section 71 operates under that.  Transmission had already been -- Great Lakes Power Transmission had been removed from Great Lakes Power Limited a year earlier.


So this compliance was directly related to generation and distribution occurring within the same corporation.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  You are saying that the $395,000 was incurred after transmission had been entirely removed from the company?


MR. LAVOIE:  The assets, ownership of assets, had been removed from Great Lakes Power Limited in 2008.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think that is slightly different than what I just said, so I want to make sure I understand.


I understand you are saying that the assets are removed.  But you seem to leave it open that some of the $395,000 that we're talking about may still have related to the separation of the transmission and distribution business, and I want to make sure whether that is true or not.


MR. LAVOIE:  I guess I...


[Witness panel confers.] 


MR. LAVOIE:  I mean, the omnibus application by and large dealt with the separation of Great Lakes Power Distribution assets from Great Lakes Power Limited.  It was a creation of a new corporation, the movement of operations to that -- to that corporation.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  I can leave that at that. 


I will just, I guess, summarize that we seem to have a different interpretation of section 71 of the Act, and at least part of what drove the company to do exactly what it did, i.e., not separating not only generation from the company, but separating the transmission and the distribution company was an interpretation of section 71, which required the separation of distribution and transmission.


I am not asking you if that legal interpretation is correct, but rather whether that particular interpretation existed and therefore drove your actions.


MR. TAYLOR:  Sorry, are you asking if the impetus for the separation of distribution and transmission was section 71 of the Act?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes. 


MR. TAYLOR:  The answer is yes. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Yesterday morning I mentioned that I would be referring to the OEB's accounting manual through e-mail and gave the page references.  I will pull it up on the screen.  I don't have copies to distribute, but I think there are paper copies available for the Board Panel, and I believe the witness panel has their own copies.  I will put it up on the screen, as well.


I am only referring to two pages.


MR. MILLAR:  This will Exhibit K2.2, and it's excerpts from the Accounting Procedures Handbook; is that right, Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  Specifically, I think the Accounting Procedures Handbook is several hundred pages long.


MR. MILLAR:  This is article 480.


MR. BUONAGURO:  This is article 480, and the parts I have cited for the purposes of this hearing are pages 5 to 9 of Article 480.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  PAGES 5 TO 9 OF ARTICLE 480 IN OEB ACCOUNTING PROCEDURES HANDBOOK.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So I am looking at page 6 of Article 480.  I guess I should, in fairness, start with page 5, which talks about this particular category.  It is called "Classifying and Recording Transition Costs".  Under that category of classifying and recording, there is, on page 6, nine different categories of costs.  Do you see that?


MR. LAVOIE:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Have you classified your costs claimed in this particular proceeding under extraordinary event costs under these categories?


MR. LAVOIE:  If I understand correctly, this is account number 1570?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I believe you are right.


I'm sorry, does that help you?


MR. LAVOIE:  Well, this is account number 1572 that we recorded these costs into.


MR. BUONAGURO:  You are saying, no, you didn't use this to categorize your costs?


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Notwithstanding that, perhaps we can just take a look at the categories and see if you would think that your costs would fall under these categories.


So we start with:

"Billing activities (e.g. system modifications/ purchases to support unbundled customer billing, billing for standard supply customers and distributor billing options for retailers)."


Would any of the costs you are claiming in this fall under that category?


MR. LAVOIE:  No, they would not.


MR. BUONAGURO:  We can do this two ways.  I can read out each one of the categories, or, if you already thought about this, maybe you can tell me if any of the costs that you are claiming would fall under any one of these nine categories?


MR. LAVOIE:  Notwithstanding we have not recorded the costs in that account, I guess there are some categories here that you could look toward as analogous to the categories as defined in this account.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. LAVOIE:  Certainly regulatory, the regulatory approvals, regulatory costs, OEB licensing, regulatory proceeding costs and fees, the omnibus application is certainly in that category of costs, along with other statutory regulatory approvals such as pension filings and other regulatory activities.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can I just stop you there for a second?  You were careful in your beginning to separate some of the costs, which I think were licensing fees, and I don't know if they were OEB.  I can't remember if they were OEB licensing fees, but can you quantify the $395,000 you are seeking recovery, how much of that may be fitting into that category of regulatory costs?


MR. LAVOIE:  In regulatory costs?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


MR. LAVOIE:  I would suggest about $280,000.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't have the number in front of me, but I take it that is the legal fees?


MR. LAVOIE:  That is the category of costs that I would think that would fit into that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Any other costs that you think may fit into one of these categories?


MR. LAVOIE:  I think the regulatory requirements, there are a number of regulatory requirements that have to -- with respect to the example given, accommodate record keeping and filing requirements.  There is a number of record keeping items that I mentioned earlier, obviously land and land rights, the documentation, land agreements, permits, material agreements, preparation of transferring all of that information, legal opinions, in that context.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Can you put a number on that?


MR. LAVOIE:  Probably that particular item, I am -- in the $80,000 range.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


I should round it off by asking you:  Anything else before I move on?


MR. LAVOIE:  I think that is probably...


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  And when I said I was only going to refer to two pages, I am actually going to go over to one more page.  So this is page 7.  It talks about ineligible transition costs.  It says:

"The following is a non-exhaustive list of ineligible transition cost/transition items."


Item number 1 on that list is:

"Incorporation and corporate reorganization costs (e.g. legal and consulting) of wires company and affiliate/ related company associated with but not limited to transfer-by-law and shareholder agreement."


And I should tell you it strikes us that the costs that you are claiming in this particular case would fall into this category under this account, and, therefore, I understand -- I seem to understand that we differ on whether or not this is the appropriate account for these costs or not.  But if this were the appropriate account for the costs, they would fall into this category.


I am wondering if you can comment on that, on our assertion, which would be that the costs that you are claiming in this case would fall under that category of costs.


MR. LAVOIE:  I think I mentioned earlier that we certainly think that this account is not appropriate for recording of these costs, simply because it did relate to the reorganization of municipal utilities within the context of market opening, and although this is a reorganization in contemplation of a section within the Act, it is a different compliance issue.


This is about reorganizing a corporation to become a wires business, and not to be combined with another generation business or other aspects of the market


So it is an unbundling of a business, and the only way you can unbundle that business is through a corporate reorganization.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  So I guess this leads back to what appears to be a difference of interpretation of what section 71 requires?


MR. LAVOIE:  It is not our understanding that section 71 compliance was the impetus for the reorganization -- the bulk of the reorganizations that were done as a result of market opening.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I am just -- well, I think I am going to stray too much into argument, so I will leave that.  Thank you.


Just lastly, when -- the first thing you said today in your examination-in-chief was with reference to the GLP settlement in, I guess, EB-2009-0408.  Is that the right EB number?


MR. LAVOIE:  That is the reference, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think you would agree that to the extent that any extraordinary event costs or anything analogous, that was covered by that settlement agreement would be just that, part of a settlement agreement?


MR. TAYLOR:  Sorry.  Can you please clarify the question?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, the panel seemed to place some importance on the fact that those particular costs were recovered by GLP, that there were a category of costs about $1 million, I believe it was, recovered as part of a settlement agreement and that somehow that should be important to this Board in its decision.


I wanted to confirm, in fact, we are talking about a comprehensive settlement in that that case and that those costs he is referring to are costs that were not separately decided by the Board.  They were, rather, part of a settlement agreement?


MR. TAYLOR:  That is true.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Mr. Shepherd?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Let me start by just clearing up what you are claiming.


If we can stay with the breakdown that you have in SEC number 31, that has the four categories of your claim.


Your claim is $410,695 in those four categories; right?


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And then did I understand you to say there was $15,000 of legal that was associated with transmission permits, getting transmission permits or registrations?


MR. LAVOIE:  The omnibus application dealt with a few housekeeping issues on transmission, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are saying the legal number of $284,200 should be reduced by $15,000?


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your claim is now $395,695? 


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


So aside from that 15,000, did I understand you to tell Mr. Buonaguro that none of the costs that you are claiming relate to the separation of the transmission of the distribution businesses?


MR. LAVOIE:  I think that I made it -- the legal aspect associated with the separation of distribution from Great Lakes Power Limited did deal with some transmission activities that I mentioned right upfront.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is the 15,000? 


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am asking you is, you spent 400,000 on this division of companies, and aside from that 15, was any of it related to the transmission business?


MR. LAVOIE:  It is my understanding that costs were accounted for in both operation -- both operations, and the aspect of the distribution-only effort was accounted for in this particular account in this application. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the reason I ask that is because although you physically separated -- or Great Lakes physically separated transmission in 2008, my understanding was that there was still common management until 2009, right?


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you actually had to separate the management of transmission and distribution in 2009, right? 


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Were some of these costs associated with that?


MR. LAVOIE:  The organization, the reorganization of the organization and establishing the new management structure and organization structure are not accounted for in this account.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  What about the separation of the engineering records?  Doesn't that include the transmission records?


MR. LAVOIE:  It does, in the sense that it was in the same room.  And so, you know, the -- in the same filing area.  The distribution records were extracted from that room.  I guess you, know, it is difficult to, you know -- is it something that you say that is transmission part of the equation on that?


I don't have the records, the cost records for transmission in front of me.  But I know these were distribution engineering staff that were working on it, and their prime objective was to move and reorganize distribution files.


So I am going to say that the effort was related to distribution.


MS. HARE:  I want to make sure I am on the same page.


You, I think, Mr. Shepherd, you referred to SEC Interrogatory 31. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right. 


MS. HARE:  I only have No. 30.  Is there another interrogatory?  Am I on the wrong page? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thirty-one.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I have SEC 31 on the screen.


MS. HARE:  I don't have that, and I would like to get that before we continue. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is on the screen, yes. 


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think the Panel is looking for their paper copy, that's all.


[Mr. Millar passes document to Ms. Hare.]


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thanks, Mr. Shepherd.


MS. HARE:  Thank you. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the $123,000 that you spent on engineering records, the division of them, if I understand right, you had this room full of engineering records which had generation, transmission and distribution.  And they were still all in the same room last summer, in 2009. 


And you had to split them up because the distribution company was going to be separate, but also the transmission company was going to be separate, right?


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.  Those files would be separate.  And just to be clear, it was transmission and distribution records. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So there was no generation?


MR. LAVOIE:  There was no generation records in this particular spot. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Okay.  Now, let me just come to these categories for a second, just so I can understand.


Because you said, when you were asked some questions by Mr. Buonaguro, that you had $280,000 of regulatory costs, but your legal claim is now only 269, so presumably your regulatory costs can't be more than 269, right?


MR. LAVOIE:  Yes, that's correct.  I was working from the -–


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  Then you said there is 80,000 for costs for things like land rights and stuff like that, dealing with all of that stuff, right?


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Wouldn't that also be in the legal? 


MR. LAVOIE:  There was... just a second.  I have some notes.


I don't believe there is any legal in that particular -- in the filing reorganization.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then where is that 80,000?  Is that part of the separation of engineering records?


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.  I was trying to get a little bit more clarity on the aspect of engineering records, to deal with land -- land rights, and land documentation, as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  So this isn't just the drawings and technical specs associated with stations and stuff like that.  This is also all of the legal documents associated with the rights you have, the easements you have and all of that sort of stuff.


There are thousands of them, right?


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That would actually be the bulk of it, probably, right?


MR. LAVOIE:  That certainly was the bulk of it. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Got it. 


So in the category "consultants" you've got $66,000; can you tell me who the biggest consultant was?  Who is the biggest consulting firm you are using there?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LAVOIE:  I think the "consultants" category, there is different uses of consultants -- with respect to the use of consultants for splitting of the engineering and land records was about 14,000.  And that would have been related to some -- an engineering tech that we had hired through an external contract to assist us at that particular time to get through the records.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the other consultants you hired, was anybody hired to value any assets?  Did you do any valuations?


MR. LAVOIE:  No, no. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Was anybody hired to do any non-legal due diligence on the asset transfers? 


MR. LAVOIE:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you didn't have anybody -- you didn't hire, for example, a property rights firm to give you -- to do your title searching and stuff like that?


MR. LAVOIE:  We had a surveyor that worked through a

-- not a properties company, but a surveying company help us with some of the registration aspects of the business. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that would be in that 66,000?


MR. LAVOIE:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  But so the surveyor helped you with the land registration stuff when you had to transfer over easements and stuff like that, and do filings and stuff like that?


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then the "legal" category, I want to take you to the Technical Conference transcript.  And the reason I do -- and I am going to ask you to look at page 109 of the Technical Conference transcript.


I didn't realize I was going to have to bring this up, I'm sorry.  Otherwise I would have prepared it in advance. 


And so on page 109, starting at page 6, you were asked what is the work product that the lawyers produced, and you say, the bulk of the costs -- that is $280,000 -- were the MAAD application, licensing, IESO filing and asset transfer documents.  Do you see that?


MR. LAVOIE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So let me just deal with the last part.


The asset transfer documents, that's the documents that --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHPHERD:  Sorry.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Can you bring us to the line on 109?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry.  Lines 6 to 9 on page –- oh, I'm sorry.  I am actually looking at -- it is actually page 103 of the transcript; it's page 109 of the document. 


MS. HARE:  Oh, that's why we were confused.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Starting at line 6.  Got it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  So the asset transfer documents, that is -- that's the actual transfer of the business from -- and all of the assets associated with the business from the -- its existing owner to a new company; right?


MR. LAVOIE:  Documentation agreements.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There was a big pile?


MR. LAVOIE:  There was a big pile.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And one law firm did it, or did you have law firms on both sides?


MR. LAVOIE:  I believe one law firm did it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And did you get a separate bill for the asset transfers, or was it part and parcel?


MR. LAVOIE:  No.  There is -- the whole project was accounted for, so there is no specific bill relating to that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It was certainly a lot of work to do that documentation; right?


MR. LAVOIE:  Certainly we -- of that $280,000 that I referred to in that item, I would think that somewhere in the neighbourhood of $40,000 was related to the legal aspects related to the transfer.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, sorry.  You told me there was no separate bill; right?


MR. LAVOIE:  Well, I am estimating that -- you know, that that would be the effort.


MR. SHEPHERD:  On what basis?  Did you get dockets?  The reason I ask is because I have done a lot of these transactions and nobody does them for $40,000, ever.  It is just not possible.  So when you said $40,000, I am thinking, What?  Like, they're working for free?


So I am trying to understand where you got the number from.


MR. LAVOIE:  Well, I guess, you know, trying to estimate based on the activities, I mean, I was involved with a lot of aspects of it and I was trying to reflect on the amount of effort.  Now, obviously there was more people in there involved in different aspects of it.


My direct involvement, you know, look at the overall amount of involvement related to the asset transfer side, that would be my estimate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And was it a big law firm, a Toronto law firm, or was it a smaller firm?


MR. LAVOIE:  It was a Toronto law firm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  And then you have described it here in SEC No. 31 as:

"Representation in connection with discussions, applications with the Ministry of Energy, Ontario Energy Board, IESO."


Et cetera.  But it was actually more than that.  It was the whole transaction; right?  It wasn't just the regulatory side of it?


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so then I guess the last thing on this is, you have said -- in your answer to 31(a), you said that these costs -- I am now dealing specifically with the legal -- are business re-engineering costs.  Can you help me understand why that is?  In what way are they business re-engineering?


MR. LAVOIE:  I'm sorry, which reference are you making?


MR. SHEPHERD:  "Costs being claimed pertain to business re-engineering."


MR. QUESNELLE:  This is (a) of...


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's in (a), that's right.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Is that 31?


MR. LAVOIE:  Thirty-one, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The last sentence in (a).


MR. KING:  Maybe I can jump in for a second, Jay.  I think question 31(a), the question itself, which is what was answered was, if I could get to it here, how other utilities in Ontario... I think that is what we tried to answer, not necessarily how we did it.  It was how other utilities.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  Sorry.  Read the last sentence.  You are saying your costs that you have describe are "business re-engineering."  I am asking you how they are.


MR. KING:  Okay, I understand.


MR. LAVOIE:  If I understand the categorization here, I believe it is the same categorization that is referred to in article 480 that we went through with Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


MR. LAVOIE:  And I think I characterized the number of costs related to regulatory approvals, regulatory requirements that fit into those categories.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  So, for example, you said $280,000 of costs were regulatory, but you just told us that at least $40,000 was actually a corporate transfer documentation exercise, right, nothing to do with regulatory?


MR. LAVOIE:  No, there was $230,000 worth of the regulatory and there was $50,000 of other consultants.


So it is a combination of categories there for the regulatory aspects.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Did your legal costs include costs to do due diligence, or were your lawyers instructed that they didn't have to do due diligence because it was an internal transaction?


MR. LAVOIE:  There wasn't much due diligence in the context of a normal -- a third party transaction.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And there were no valuations done?


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Opinions were given?


MR. LAVOIE:  There were legal opinions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Were legal opinions given to third parties, financiers, et cetera?


MR. LAVOIE:  I don't know the answer to that question.  I don't know.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  It is normal practice, right, if you transfer assets to a new company, you have to go to the lenders and you have to give them an opinion saying everything is hunky-dory.


MR. LAVOIE:  In this particular case, the assets that were being transferred were unsecured from a debt perspective.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You still had negative covenants?


MR. LAVOIE:  Again, that is the part I am not clear on, is what would have been required.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And, finally, just looking at the internal costs, you said to Mr. Buonaguro that the internal costs, some of them were incremental and some were not.  You don't know what the split is; is that right?


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The internal costs include the costs associated with internal staff instructing lawyers and managing the process; is that right?


MR. LAVOIE:  No.  It was really to do with the aspects of documentation, and so not -- the instruction and management side of the project was not included in this cost.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So none of your time was included?


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And no other management time was included anywhere?


MR. LAVOIE:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. MacIntosh?


MR. MACINTOSH:  I have no questions, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Just very briefly, Mr. Chair.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, panel.  I'm Michael Millar.  Could I ask you to turn up Exhibit 9, tab 2, schedule 2?  This is something we have already had a look at.  It has the chart at the top of the table showing the calculation of the extraordinary event costs.


I just want to -- yes, there it is on the screen.  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.


I just want to make sure I understand the changes that we heard just this morning.  The application originally sought $412,759; is that correct?


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And you made certain reductions, if I could summarize, for items that were related to the transmission business; is that correct?


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And so what you are now requesting is $395,000?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LAVOIE:  Approximately.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, what is the number?


MR. LAVOIE:  I guess what we didn't -- what I didn't contemplate in my reduction and earlier evidence was the impact of carrying charges.  So it was really the reference to $210,000, so excluding carrying charges.  So I say estimated based -- subject to a recalculation of the carrying charges


MR. MILLAR:  That gets to where I was going.


If the reduction was 395,000, then by my math the reduction would have been $17,759.  Would you accept that?


My next question was going to be if you included carrying charges in that, and I guess the answer to that is no?


MR. LAVOIE:  In the 395,000, no, that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask you to redo the chart at the top of page 2 to show what the new number you are requesting will be?


MR. LAVOIE:  Sure.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that will be undertaking J2.1, and it is to reproduce the chart at the top of page 2, Exhibit 9 tab 2, schedule 2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  TO REPRODUCE THE CHART AT THE TOP OF PAGE 2, EXHIBIT 9 TAB 2, SCHEDULE 2.


MR. QUESNELLE:  That's fine, Mr. Taylor?


MR. TAYLOR:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Do you have anything?

Questions by the Board:


MS. HARE:  Just for clarification, when you talked about the internal costs, you mentioned that there were no management costs included in that.  So in the $56,440, no management costs, so what are those costs?


MR. LAVOIE:  At this point, I can say that they're internal costs based on a time-card system that our engineering staff would have charged to the particular project.


I know that a number of those hours were overtime, but it would include some regular-time costs.  So it is not a purely incremental cost.


MS. HARE:  But are those cost not already included in your revenue requirement?


MR. LAVOIE:  In the test year, there are engineering costs included in the revenue requirement.


This would have been an accrual of costs from 2009.


MS. HARE:  So maybe I am missing something, but I don't understand how those are incremental costs.


MR. LAVOIE:  To the extent that there is overtime, that would be an incremental cost.


MS. HARE:  But is it overtime?


MR. LAVOIE:  There is some aspect of it that is overtime.


MR. TAYLOR:  Sorry, if I could just jump in as well, did you not mention there was backfill time as well?


MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.  In the regular operation of engineering services that the department provides to the -- there is some aspect of backfilling that we did require in order to accomplish this particular project.


So there is an incremental component that would be related to the backfilling that needs to be accounted for as well.


MR. QUESNELLE:  What I wanted to get a better handle on is the chronology of events as to what elements were separated from originally.


You mentioned that the transmission –- and help me with the corporate structure here again -- that the transmission had, in essence, been separated a year prior, and that the driver was more related to -- in relation to the section 71 -- was related more to the generation than transmission.


And I am confused by that.  Could you help me out with what happened first, so that we can understand -- when you are talking about separation of records and there was no generation records, that sounds to me like a separation of distribution and transmission, and yet you are suggesting that actually it was generation -- or transmission separation had taken place earlier.


Can you help me out with that?


MR. LAVOIE:  Certainly.  I guess you have to turn the clock right back to market opening time frame, and the aspect of licensing distribution and transmission and generation within one legal entity.


There was at the time, as referenced earlier on, an exemption through regulation of section 71.  But there was an effort undertaken by the company, Great Lakes Power Limited, to separate its operations as it relates to generation as much as possible during the market opening time frame.


So by May of 2002, the operating side of the generation business of Great Lakes Power Limited had been physically separated, financially separated, and for all intents and purposes was -- looked and felt like a separate operation.


However, the -- underpinning that from a corporate-structure legal-entity perspective, remained the existence of Great Lakes Power Limited that had the ownership of generation as well as transmission and distribution.


The transmission and distribution aspects of the business were financially separated, but operationally cohabitated within the same management structure and staffing structure from 2002 to 2008 time frame.


So the ownership and –- ownership of all three aspects of the business was consistent through to 2008.


In the spring of 2008, an application was put forward to the Ontario Energy Board and subsequently approved, that changed -- that allowed the ownership to change with respect to transmission assets and the creation of transmission -- Great Lakes Power Transmission Limited Partnership was created, and subsequently purchased all of the assets related to the transmission business.


The operating side of the business remained connected, as it was unclear as to the outcome of the distribution application as it related to the first instance of the Triple RP regulations, and so the decision to continue operating transmission and distribution together remained, knowing that section 71 would apply at some point, that would cause distribution to have to be removed as well from the corporate structure of Great Lakes Power Limited.


So I think -- and then that got us to 2009, where Great Lakes Power Distribution Incorporated was formed subsequent to the MAAD application.


And assets were sold from Great Lakes Power Limited to Great Lakes Power Distribution, and also the operation was separated at that point for distribution and transmission.  So that would have been July of 2009.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So these costs are all pertaining to the separation of the operations of the transmission and distribution elements, then?


MR. LAVOIE:  I would say the majority of costs are related to the application and legal requirements for the separation of assets from Great Lakes Power Limited to Great Lakes Power Distribution.


And there are some aspects of consultants and internal costs that are related to separation of asset records and engineering records and land records, which, I guess, you know -- there is a relationship between the ownership aspects of the business and the operating side of the business.  I mean, it is the documentation of the asset side of the business with respect to the records, but yet is needed to -- for the operating side to be separate.


MR. QUESNELLE:  It is just a matter of how you view this, obviously, but if you extract out the distribution records from something which was previously consolidated, is there anything left to be done to the transmission records to put it in a shape that the transmission company can't use those separately and on its own without further work?


MR. LAVOIE:  There is still ongoing efforts to this day.  I have staff -- and we are not accounting for it in this particular thing of reorganizing our records.


And I would expect that the same efforts are being required on the transmission side.  I mean --


MR. QUESNELLE:  But the element of the separation is behind them?  Whatever they are doing with the reformation of their transmission filings and record-keeping, there is no more extraction required, from a joint operation perspective?


MR. LAVOIE:  I guess subject to the odd anomaly that we both find from time to time required.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Sure.  Okay.  Thank you.  Ms. Hare?


MS. HARE:  All of those separation costs, though, were incurred before the sale to CNPI or Fortis?


MR. LAVOIE:  The costs that we're talking about today in this account, yes.  The efforts, yes.


MS. HARE:  And so when the deal was made to acquire the assets, the assumption was that those regulatory assets would be approved by the Board?  Is that the assumption that was made?


In other words, there was no discounting in terms of purchase price, because this was an unknown?


[Witness panel confers.]


MR. LAVOIE:  I think the assumption was it was a regulatory asset balance, and carried forward.  It was a purchase of shares, so the business in its totality was transferred.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Any redirect, Mr. Taylor?


MR. TAYLOR:  No.


MR. QUESNELLE:  No?  Okay.

Procedural Matters:


MR. QUESNELLE:  Anyone have any comment on the remainder of our process, as far as what has been laid out in Procedural Order No. 3?


I think if that is all clear to everyone, we are finished for today.


Thank you very much to the witness panel, and thank you for the parties for coming in this morning and finishing this up.


We will adjourn.  As, again, I said, the rest of the process is spelled out in Procedural Order No. 3, and we will await your submissions.


Thank you.  We are adjourned for the day.


--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 10:24 a.m.
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